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EDITORIAL DEPARTMENT

A Staff Representative’s Dream

In a letter written recently to the editor, Staff Representative Hyrum S. Lewis voices a suggestion which the editor thinks is a fine idea. Mr. Lewis refers to his idea as being, perhaps, "only a dream." But, a dream, if It can be realized, which would provide a very enjoyable gathering, His dream le the-delightful thought of a fellowship meeting of all the members of the Lewis Family News-Letter Staff at such time and place as might be determined.   This would be a unique gathering indeed, and it may be assumed a very profitable one. Not only would the members of the staff have the pleasure of becoming, personally acquainted but such contact would benefit as a genealogical enterprise, the entire relationship  of the branches organization eventually.

This is a dream which the editor thinks may become a reality even though there are members of the staff who live in widely separated places.  Why could not such a meeting take place this coming summer? For a place of meeting, why not Bellbrook, the pioneer home of the founder  of the three Lewis branches? The Daniel Lewis Branch members of the staff would be right at home, the members of the Joel Lewis Branch with the exception of a single member at present would be within easy driving distance. But the members of the staff who belong to the James Lewis Branch are in far away Idaho, Wilma Mae Lewis is in Hartford, Connecticut, and Mrs. Royal E. Burnham is in Washington D.C. Could these Arrange to come to Bellbrook, Ohio? There is a strong expectation of Mr. Hyrum Lewis visiting again this summer members of the Joel Lewis Branch. It can be left to his genius to bring with him his daughters Eola Lewis Fisher and Rachel Lewis who are the other members associated with him on the staff. Mrs. Wilma Mae Lewis could utilize this proposal as an opportunity to revisit her girlhood home at Winchester, Indiana after a long absence and Mrs. Burnham could make the trip out from the city of Washington to the old home of her Lewis ancestors in Greene County, which in itself would be thrilling. Besides there would be a number of new relatives to meet in her own branch which would be a happy experience. So it would come to pass, this dream of Hyrum S. Lewis, may not be so difficult as it night first appear.

What do you say, Staff Members? The editor will welcome your view and be glad for your suggestions concerning the matter, Write the News-Letter at once.
Human Interest Stories
The readers of the Lewis Family News-Letter no doubt have been  impressed with the human interest stories which have appeared in the  biographical sketches of the founders of the branches which, respectively, bear their names. Added enjoyment is provided by these stories because they are authentic. All will recall, in the case of Joel Lewis, junior, the story of how he became a Miami Brave;  or, in the case of James Stapleton Lewis, the story of a prairie romance; or in the case of Daniel Lewis, junior, the story of a bride's dowry. In the current issue human interest stories continue. In the sketch of the life of Joel Lewis, senior, there are two interesting stories connected with George Washington’s visit to Salisbury, north Carolina; one telling about the President being escorted by a group of Ronan County youth with bucktails— in their hats, and the other a charming tale of a little lass entertaining the General for breakfast in the absence of the family. In the story of the life of James Stapleton Lewis is the recital of a modern exodus full of dramatic power, and in the story of Daniel Lewis, junior, is the incident of the discovery of a lonely grave. Many more of these human interest stories will appear in forthcoming issues of the News-letter, exemplifying the saying, "Truth is stranger than fiction."   Here are stories to be told over and over again to children, grandchildren and great grandchildren-- fireside tales of our own ancestors, tales of romance, humor, pathos and adventure, born out of actual experiences in every day life.
A Departmentalized Family Letter
The Lewis Family News Letter is composed after a plan and purpose. An Editorial Department and Genealogical Department have been  maintained from the beginning and an occasional personal has appeared. With the next issue a new department is being added. This is an Archaeological Department dealing with live, manners and customs of earlier times. Family relics and heirlooms come under this department. In addition the last page of each issue will be reserved for personals under the head of Branch Family News. Contributions to this page of news interest by family correspondents will be welcomed. Births, deaths, marriages, honors,  advancements, achievements, travel-share these news-worthy items with all the Lewis families and descendants.

The Story of JAMES STAPLETON LEWIS, The Founder of The Cassia County, Idaho 

Branch of Lewis Families
(Fourth Installment)

Nauvoo
During the time James Stapleton Lewis was residing In Carroll County, Indiana (see February Issue of the Lewis Family News-Letter) accounts came to him of the rapid growth and no small marvels of Nauvoo, the new capital of the Mormon Church, which had been  established on the site of the village of Commerce In Hancock County, Illinois, to which place the refugees had rallied after their forcible expulsion from Missouri.  Probably he had received letters from old friends among the brethren who urged that he too come to Nauvoo, the center of Mormon influence and power.  Longing to  be again among the people of his own religious faith and intrigued by the glowing descriptions furnished him of the opportunities to be  found in the Magic City, as Nauvoo was called, James determined to cast his lot once more with the enterprising citizens of the new metropolis, and to enjoy once more the fellowships of his old neighbors and co-religionists.

Disposing of his farm in Carroll County he moved by wagon his family and household effects to Nauvoo in the year 1843.  Here, in the very center of Mormon life and activity he was to witness again those tragedies of the faith which even transcended the dire happenings associated with the Church In Missouri which led up to the  expulsion of twelve thousand Saints from. the territorial soil of that state.

The Magic City

Not only because it was the headquarters of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints, but also because it was a  remarkably progressive city for that day, a brief description of Nauvoo will be of interest before telling about these dramatic  episodes connected with its brief history and in the midst of which James Stapleton Lewis “lived, moved and had his being."

Nauvoo (Hebrew, ‘Beautiful’) situate on  the Mississippi River, in a fertile fruit country, fourteen miles above Keokuk, was founded by the Mormons in 1840, following their entry into Illinois.  The exiles had received a cordial welcome to Illinois, especially by the leaders of the two political parties, the Whigs and the Democrats, who hoped to obtain the vote of the newcomers in the presidential campaign of 1840, which saw William Henry Harrison, the "Hero of Tippecanoe" elected.  Nauvoo, therefore, received from the State  Legislature a charter of incorporation while in session in December, 1840.

This charter contained liberal provisions for self government, and to such an extent that the city was practically independent of the State. The city grew rapidly in population and numbered in a few months 20,000  Souls.

On the 6th of April 1841, the foundation of a new temple was laid and the building  when completed  became one of the  chief  features of the new city.  The New temple, built of white limestone, was 83 by 128 feet In dimension, surpassed both in beauty and size the earlier structure at Kirkland, Ohio.  A new university was also established known as the University of Nauvoo and became a flourishing institution. One of Its professors was Sidney Rigdon (he of the "salt  Sermon," see the February Issue of the News-Letter).   He was a man of scholarly attainment having in former years taught Latin and Greek at Hiram College in Ohio, to the father of Mrs. James A. Garfield, who by the election of her husband to the presidency, became the mistress of the White House and the first lady of the land.

Perhaps the most remarkable thing-that could be said .of the city of Nauvoo was that it "had no idlers and no drunkards."

Assassination!

Joseph Smith, the Mormon leader had succeeded in escaping from custody in Missouri and had rejoined his wife in Nauvoo.  She had crossed the Mississippi River with her children walking in bitter weather of that memorable winter when the Mormons were compelled to leave Missouri by executive order–walking across the frozen river.  Joseph, junior, who had been brutally separated from his father at the point of a bayonet in Missouri and told that his father would be killed was over-joyed at his father’s return.   He was at that time ten years of age.  Later when the Mormons as a body removed to Utah, he elected to remain with his mother's people.  He eventually became the head of the Reorganized Church of Latter-day Saints with headquarters at Independence, Missouri.  It has been said that no breath of scandal was ever raised against him.

Joseph Smith under the new charter was granted almost unlimited powers.  He organized a military body called the Nauvoo Legion (also  incorporated by the State) and was commissioned commander of the organization by the governor with the rank of Lieutenant General.

After Smith’s arrival at Nauvoo, events rapidly coordinated to bring to a tragic end the colorful career of the prophet and leader of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints.  In 1842, Smith was accused by his enemies (it was inevitable that he should create powerful enemies) of instigating an attempt upon the life of Ex-governor L. W. Boggs, of Missouri, who had issued while in office, the exterminatory order against the Mormon people.  However, he was released from custody by the Nauvoo Municipal Court on a writ of habeas corpus.  In June 1843 he was rearrested on the old charge of treasonable acts committed against the State while in Missouri but again he was given his freedom. In 1844 a small group of apostates from the Mormon Church started a newspaper at Nauvoo with the avowed purpose of assailing the prophet for alleged misdeeds.  Only one Issue of the paper was published, the City Council of Nauvoo ordering the  abatement of the paper as a nuisance.  In the seizure of the printing  establishment by the officers of the law the plant was wrecked.  Smith's  enemies promptly blamed him for the result and they secured the issuance of a warrant for his arrest.  As he was officially recognized commander of the Nauvoo Legion, a duly constituted unit of Militia, Smith's enemies exploited the charge that a military clash was imminent.  As a result public opinion in the State became intensely antagonistic to the Church.  To save possible bloodshed. Smith, upon the governor's plea, agreed to surrender himself upon the assurance of a safeguard against mob violence, the prophet was thereupon imprisoned at Carthage, Illinois.

Here, on the 27th of June 1844, a wild mob, impassioned by liquor, broke into the jail and shot to death Joseph Smith and  his brother Hyrum, and seriously wounded John Taylor, one of the  prophet's party. Following this foul and unlawful deed, the governor of the state called out the troops to quell the unruly populace, which threatened severe  punishment to the Mormon citizens  of Nauvoo.  With saddened hearts, James Stapleton Lewis and Anna Jones Lewis looked upon these dreadful happenings and in common with the Mormon populace watched with great alarm the violent acts of the mob.   For them,  and all of their faith, these days were filled with grave anxiety and misgiving.

A Fifth Son is Born

In the year of the assassination of Joseph Smith (1844) a son was born to James and Anna on the fifteenth of October.  He was named Isaac Morley–a tiny mark upon the troubled waters of those stormy times.

Brigham Young, "Joshua” of the Mormon People

Even  the crowning act of violence, the shooting down of Joseph Smith by the mob, failed to bring about the end of the Mormon Church and faith.   Joseph Smith the "Moses" of the Mormon movement was succeeded in leadership by Brigham Young, the "Joshua" of the Mormon people.   Young, born in Vermont in 1801, was now in the full prime of his life–a man of resolution and action.  A carpenter, painter and glazier in Mendon, New York, he was converted to the Mormon faith by a brother of Joseph. Smith;  was baptized and began to preach.  At Kirkland, Ohio, he was made an elder and preached in Canada (1832-3).   When the apostles was established in 1835, he was appointed one of the twelve.    In 1840 he visited England, and as a result of his evangelistic activities there were two thousand converts.    Upon Joseph Smith’s death the presidency of the Mormon Church was bestowed upon him.

Early in 1846, Brigham Young was impelled through the violence of persistent prosecution to leave Nauvoo with his people.  Now  witness the Mormon host setting forth on that long journey that would eventually bring them to the "Promised Land," the Great Salt Lake Valley of Utah. The first leg of their journey took them to western Iowa where the main body halted and established headquarters at Council Bluffs, Pottawattimie, County, the people living in wigwams and log huts upon and near Indian lands.

With the great company of Latter-day Saints on this westward trek was James and Anna and their children, Joel, John and Isaac.    James records that they were in Marion County Iowa, in 1846, where they crossed the Des Moines River.  He records also their residence at Pisgah, Iowa, in 1848.

Here a sixth son was born, January 18, 1851, but the feeble spark of life went out on the same day.  He was named William.

(The fifth installment of the story of James Stapleton Lewis will be given in the April issue of the Lewis Family News-Letter.  There will be printed in full a letter written, by him to his brother Joel Lewis, junior, under date of February 28, 1855, after James had gone on to Utah.. The letter is a very interesting account of his journey to the far west.)
The Story Of DANIEL LEWIS, Founder Of The Greene County, Ohio Branch Of Lewis Families

(Third Installment)

Daniel, junior, Builds a Home for His Bride

Hannah Stapleton, the bride of Daniel Lewis, junior, was eighteen years of age in the year of 1784. Daniel was a year younger. Their marriage may have taken place soon afterward, or it may not have been consummated until both were older. At least it had taken place by the year 1788 since Daniel records the birth of his first born in his Bible under date of May 15, 1789 (see February issue of the News-Letter). If as late as 1788, Daniel would be about twenty-one and his bride twenty-two years of age.

Whether Daniel, junior, built a new home in the wilderness immediately and began farming for himself after his marriage as was the usual custom among the young men of pioneer days, or whether he continued in the employ or as a partner with Daniel Lewis, senior, living in his own house, the News-Letter is unable to state. Seven years after his marriage there is a definite record of land being conveyed to him by his father. The Rowan County Deed Book 14, page 762 shows that “Daniel Lewis, senior, and wife, Hanna” transfer to “Daniel Lewis, junior,” . . . two tracts of “112 and 123 acres” respectively, “being part of a tract of 593 acres granted by the State to Daniel Little.” The consideration was 100 pounds. This deed was proven at the February session of the Rowan County Court in 1797.

The Raisin’

At the building of the new house or “raisin” as such occasions were called by the pioneers, Daniel, junior and Hannah were festively assisted by their neighbors. After Daniel had cut and trimmed the logs for his house, his friends gathered with their wives, sons, daughters and sweethearts and bring their horses and oxen, they notched the logs, laid the mud sills and erected the frame of the house, hauling the logs up on skid ways to their places. “The horses strained, the axes rang, the yellow chips flew, the men shouted. And over in the maple grove the women had fires going and pots boiling so that when dinner came another feast was under way, with the squealing fiddle not far off summoning willing feet to the dance under the open sky before resuming work. In this manner the house and the barn and the corncrib went up like magic, so that when these neighbors, shouting their goodbyes trooped away down the forest aisles, the groom and bride had only to climb and roof their new habitation before moving in.

Burial Place of Squire and Sarah Morgan Boone
In 1934 while the editor was doing research work in Lewis genealogy in Rowan county, North Carolina, he learned that the graves of Squire Boone and his wife, Sarah Morgan Boone, were to be found in an old cemetery at Mocksville, Davie County, North Carolina (Davie County was taken out of Rowan). He resolved to visit this old cemetery not only for the purpose of looking upon the graves of the father and mother of Daniel Boone, the great hunter and frontiersman, but also with the hope of locating Lewis Tombstones. With his wife and daughter he drove from Salisbury (pronounced Saulsbury) to Mocksville. The concrete automobile road wound over hill and through dale in the beautiful Piedmont country. The day was perfect, the air sweet scented, the sun warm and bright, all nature green with the springtime. Passing through the village our party soon came to the new part of the cemetery. Passing through this we stood in the old part with no sound to disturb the quietness and sanctity of the place save the crunching of a pebble or the snapping of a twig under foot. We came to a large boulder in which was placed a tablet carrying the following inscription:

Here are buried the parents of Daniel Boone,

Frontiersman and Pioneer of the Yadkin.

Squire Boone departed this life the sixty-ninth

Year of his life in the year of our Lord 1765.

Sarah Boone departed this life 1777 – age 77 years.

This Memorial erected by the Boone Family

Historical Association.

After tarrying before the Boone monument we started to renew our search for Lewis markers. Just beyond the Boone memorial a small market caught our attention. It was a little slab of stone darkened by time, but plainly chiseled in the stone was a name, Sarah Lewis.

A Lonely Grave
There were no other markers to indicate the existence of other graves at this place. Hurrying to the lonely grave we read with interest the inscription on the stone:

Here lies the body of Sarah Lewis who departed

This life August the 7th 1790 in the sixteenth

Month of her age.

Something about the inscription seemed vaguely familiar. Where had we read before the words: Sarah Lewis was deceased in the sixteenth month of her age? For weeks the editor puzzled over this question. One day when re-reading some letters containing data of the family of Daniel Lewis, junior, sent to him by a grandson of Daniel, junior (William’s Daniel of Crawfordsville, Indiana), he came upon the statement, “Sarah Lewis (daughter of Daniel, junior, born May 15, 1789 – see the Lewis Family Bible now in possession of Frank Lewis of Xenia Ohio), was deceased in the sixteenth month of her age.” Had the editor in the old Mocksville cemetery come upon the grave of the infant Sarah Lewis, Daniel’s first born, which lay a few feet beyond the memorial boulder of the parents of Daniel Boone? Intuitively, the editor believes that he did. Certain circumstantial evidence confirms the editor’s belief. For one thing this was the very country in which Daniel, junior, lived. Again, the year of the birth of the child Sarah Lewis, recorded in Daniel’s family Bible agrees with the year of the birth of the child buried in the Mocksville cemetery. Also, in both cases the year of death is the same. But most of all in importance to the editor is the data sent by Mr. Daniel Lewis, of Crawfordsville, Indiana, stating that “Sarah Lewis was deceased in the sixteenth month of her age” which agrees exactly with the wording on the marker – Sarah Lewis departed this life in the sixteenth month of her age,” – the little bud of life blasted by the cold breath of death.

A lonely grave, in truth, to be left far behind when the Daniel Lewis family should migrate to Kentucky and Ohio, and watered with the tears of Daniel and Hannah as they visited the little mound for the last time before starting on the long journey of the Wilderness Trail to the west, and what a strange turn of circumstance that the editor of the Lewis Family News-Letter should be the first so far as he knows to visit the grave of Sarah Lewis after the departure of Daniel, junior and his family for the Ohio country, one hundred and thirty years before.

The Federal Census of 1790
The United State Government inaugurated the noteworthy plan of counting the people of the country every ten years beginning with the year of 1790. The first census was a simple affair compared with the complex census enumeration of today. Two general divisions were made in the statistical report – Free White Males and Free White Females. The name of the head of the family only was given. All persons attached to a household were enumerated by age groups – Under 16, 16 and under 26, 26 and under 45, 45 and upwards. An item was added to indicate the number of slaves owned if any. This was all the information provided for in the First Federal Census. In taking this census North Carolina was divided into Districts embracing several counties. Salisbury District was composed of the Counties of Guilford, Iradell, Mecklenburg, Montgomery, Rockingham, Rowan, including Salisbury town, Stokes, and Curry. The population of Salisbury in 1790 is given as 15,898; for the entire state 393,751. In the family of Daniel Lewis, junior, one male is indicated between the age of 16 and 26. This would be the head of the house, Daniel himself, who was twenty-three in 1790. Two females are given, one between 16 and 26, this would be Hannah, age 24 in 1790, and one under 16, this would be Sarah who died in this year.

Two Important Events in the Year of 1791
In the spring of 1791 two events of great interest to Daniel, junior, and Hannah, occurred. One was the birth of their second child, a girl, “on Thursday the 14th day of April, about noon,” Daniel writes in his Bible. The newcomer was named Rebecca. She became the oldest of Daniel’s children who lived to adulthood. The other even was the visit of General George Washington, the President of the United States, to Salisbury upon his return journey of a tour of the southern states.

The Rowan Light Horse Company
In his History of Rowan County, Jethro Rumple says: “As General Washington approached the boarders of North Carolina Captain John Beard, of Salisbury, with the Rowan ‘Light Horst Company’ set out for Charlotte to meet and escort him to Salisbury.” 

The editor does not know who the men were composing the Light Horse Company, but it is not difficult to believe that Daniel Lewis, junior, as one of the well-known and active young men of the community, was one of the troopers of the Company, which had the signal honor of escorting the President on the occasion of his visit to Rowan County, and Salisbury, its chief town.

Squire Brandon’s Lass Entertains the President
As General Washington and his cavalcade was approaching Salisbury a little incident occurred of pleasing character. Rumple, in his History of Rowan County says, “Richard Brandon, Esquire, then lived six miles southwest of Salisbury, at the place known . . . to . . . the older citizens as the Stockton place. . .  The old building stood . . . on the west side of the road near a little meadow, about half way between St. Mary’s Church and Mr. McKenzie’s present residence. As the party neared this place early in the day, the President, being then sixty years old, and wearied with his journey, and knowing too that a long and fatiguing reception awaited him in Salisbury, bethought him that a little refreshment would strengthen him for the day's work. So he drove up to the farmer's door and called.  A neat and tidy lass of some twelve or fourteen summers - a daughter of Squire Brandon - answered the call.  The President immediately asked whether she could give him breakfast.  She replied that she did not know – that all the grown people had gone to Salisbury to see General Washington. The President kindly assured her that if she would get him some breakfast, she would see General Washington before any of her people, adding pleasantly, "I am General Washington."  

The breakfast – for the president alone, was prepared with great alacrity, and the blushing maiden had the pleasure not only of seeing, but of conversing with General Washington as she dispensed to him her bountiful hospitality." Refreshed and grateful the General proceeded to the town of Salisbury.

The Humility of a Great Man

"The Illustrious visitor was, of course, the guest of the town,"   continues Rumple, "and was provided for at Captain Edward Yarboro's  residence.  This house is still standing, on Main Street, a few doors  (from) the Public Square, and nearly opposite the entrance of Meriney’s Hall."  The President occupied this house for a night, and addressed the people from the steps at the front entrance – . . . "And as the people gazed the President stood bareheaded, while the afternoon sun illuminated his hoary locks, and this was what he said :  "My friends, you see before you nothing but an old, gray-headed man."

Daniel Lewis, junior, Lived in an Epochal Period

Daniel, junior, lived in an eventual period of time.  Born soon after the close of the French and Indian War in 1858 (in the beginning of which the young Washington  won his spurs at General Braddock’s crushing defeat in Western Pennsylvania in saving the English army from annihilation) he was a lad of seven years when Patrick Henry in his famous oration before the Virginia Legislature declared:

"If we wish to be free we must fight.  There is no retreat but in submission and slavery!  Our chains are already forged! Their clanking may be heard on the plains of Boston! The war is certain to come - and let it come.  Why stand we here idle?  Is life so dear or peace so sweet, as to be purchased at the price of chains and slavery? Forbid it, Almighty God! I know not what course others may take, but as for me, give me liberty or give me death!"

It was in this same year that Paul Revere made his midnight ride to warn the patriots that the British were marching on Lexington and Concord, and the dawn saw the firing of that shot "that was heard around the world." And it was in this year too, that Bunker Hill was so stubbornly contested. Daniel was eight years old when the Declaration of Independence was signed and when on a stormy night (Christmas) Washington crossed the Delaware and took Trenton.

He was ten when General Burgoyne at Saratoga surrendered to the American forces in one of the decisive battles of all  history according to the historian Creasy.  It was in this year that Washington and his army spent a terrible winter at Valley Forge, the crucifixion period of the American Revolution.

He was eleven years of age when France entered into an alliance with America and Colonel George Rogers Clark won the Northwest Territory with his brave Virginians.

(The final installment of the story of Daniel Lewis, junior, will be given in the next Issue of the Lewis Family newsletter instead of its appearing in the current issue as announced in the March Issue, 1936.   This change was made necessary by the inclusion of extra matter concerning the Van Eaton and Sackett families in the present issue.)

The story of JAMES STAPLETON LEWIS, Founder of the Cassia County,

Idaho, Branch of Lewis Families.
(fifth Installment)
Note by editor:  All families receiving the Lewis Letter are asked to delete the last paragraph in the March Issue (1936) of the Letter because some statistics which should have had a place in this  paragraph ware un-intentionally omitted by the editor in the James Stapleton Lewis Story.  This omitted material is properly printed in the current installment.

Toward The Promised Land
In our last issue of the Lewis Family News-Letter we saw Brigham Young, the "Joshua” of the Mormon people leading a "Thousand" families forth from Nauvoo, in February 1846, into Iowa where the main body of Saints wintered at Council Bluffs, (some going on to Nebraska).  With the marching host was James and Anna and their children, Joel, John end Isaac. James records that they were in Marion County, Iowa in 1846, where they crossed the Des Moines River.  In this county, November 22, 1846, was born their sixth child,  Alva Tippits Lewis,  The family remained in Iowa until 1852.    While at Mount Pisgah, Pottawattimie County, in 1848 a seventh child was born on May 20 and named Wilford Woodruff.  The eighth and last child born to James and Anna came on January 18, 1851, but the feeble spark of life went out within a few hours.  He was named William Fallis, in honor of the husband of Rachel Lewis Fallis, the sister of James Stapleton and Joel Lewis junior

In the meanwhile Brigham Young with a band of 143 (some authorities say 147) started in the spring of 1847 for the far west.   On July 24 the party arrived in the great Salt Lake Valley.  This region, Young declared, was to be the Mormon’s "Promised Land.” Here, in the heart of the Rocky Mountains, he founded Salt Lake City.  The country to the ordinary view was most uninviting.  But the colonists placed a dam across the little stream, known a little later as City Creek, and flooded a small area of hard-backed soil. After the planting the land was again watered.  Thus was inaugurated the system of modem irrigation in America.    The first crop raised was small and the next was partly destroyed by crickets, but the people pushed out into the remoter parts of the valley and beyond, and within a few years the wilderness – a part of the great American Desert was soon blossoming out as a flower garden and e pleasant habitation — all due to the untiring industry and determined perseverance of the exiled Saints.  The site of the present city of Salt Lake was surveyed, streets were laid out, the Temple block was marked  by boundaries and other reservations for community use were made.
The Great Trek

Brigham Young returned to Council Bluffs, Iowa, to direct the search of the main body of the Mormon people to Utah.   Part of this body went out the following autumn of that year, others in 1848.

The migrating hosts followed the route of the pioneer band, traveling in well-organized companies, crossing the plains on foot, guiding ox teams or pushing hand carts by dint of strenuous effort.   To aid their fellow pilgrims it is said that crops would be planted by contingents going out one year and harvested by those following the next year. Thus Young led the Mormon people by ways of toil end through days of danger which nothing but the most untiring energy could surmount, over plains and plateaus to the Valley of the Great Salt Lake.

An Opportune Migration
Great Salt Lake City, as the new Mormon settlement was first called, become at once important on account of its position on the route of the wagon trains between the Missouri river and California, and within two years of the time of the pioneer arrival, the gold fever was raging and travel was heavy with "forty-niners." As a result of the wonderful genius for organization, management end well-disciplined activity exhibited by the Mormon colonists, and owing to their success in irrigating the soil which was inherently fertile and lacked only skilled cultivation and water, the city became the chief source of supply to transcontinental travelers.

Statehood Denied But a Territory Established
It was said that one of the reasons that Brigham Young and the  Mormons went to Utah was to place themselves beyond the jurisdiction of the United States Government, feeling themselves the objects of persecution. However, it is to be noted that the Mormon Church assisted the American government in its war with Mexico, supplying troops for that conflict. When settled by the Mormons the region of the southwest (including Utah) was under Mexican Sovereignty. After its cession to the United States following the termination of the war with Mexico, in 1848, under the treaty of Guadeloupe Hidalgo, an attempt was made by the Utahans to organize a state, to be called the State of Deseret, that being the name given by the Latter-Day Saints to that region. The settlers petitioned for  admission to the Union as a state, but the government refused to sanction the new state and the petition was denied. However, in 1860 the Territory of Utah was organized and Brigham Young was appointed Governor by President Fillmore.   Congress also made appropriations to the new territory for new buildings of a public nature and for a library.

James Stapleton Lewis Migrates Far West, 1852
In a letter to the editor, Rachel Lewis Harper, the only living daughter of James Stapleton Lewis states that her father with his family left Iowa in 1852 for Salt Lake City. Here, in what was known as Sugar House, he owned his first farm in the far west, and lived in a double house. A copy of a letter he wrote to his brother, Joel Lewis, junior, in 1855, was furnished the editor, which is herein printed entire. It is remarkable for its clarity of thought, purity of diction, and terse graphic descriptions of his long journey to Utah. The following will be read with great interest:

Sugar House Ward
O. S. Utah Salt Lake City
Utah Territory,
Feb. 28, 1855

Dear brother:
I now set down to write a few lines to you. We received your letter the first of February which gave us much satisfaction, and also much sorrow, though we had not expected to hear of all our relatives alive again. I have written several letters and supposed that you had emigrated to some other country. We have never heard from you or any other person in that country since I left your house some twelve or fourteen years ago.
 We should be very glad to see you all again but many circumstances would prevent at present. We want you to write to us and give us all the particulars you can either of friends or acquaintances – all would be news to us.

My own family is all with me at present, but [I]do not know how long they may remain so. We have had many difficulties hard to encounter with since I saw you. Sickness has followed us closely from Illinois to Iowa and from there here. My wife
 is sick at present with the mountain fever and has been so much of the winter. She is very low. She wishes to know how long her father has been dead.
 And she wishes to know whether her step-mother
 is still living and of her friends as far as you know. I send you here a written power of attorney to collect what dues here is in her favor and send them to us.

We are settled here in the midst of the Rocky Mountains eleven hundred miles from the Missouri River. We crossed Missouri above Council Bluffs. We crossed but two ferries more, passed up the north side of the Platte, a river from a quarter to a third of a mile wide, [that] is muddy like Missouri. Traveled up this river over six hundred miles and more than five hundred without ever raising the bluffs of that river. We saw not an Indian thus far but plenty of buffalo and good feed for cattle, good roads thus far, very destitute of timber the whole way – some places two hundred miles without any. Cook with a little sage brush generally about as high as a man's knee and buffalo chips. Leave the Platt and come to Saleratus Lake. This forms like ice in the dry part of the season, is of good quality. 

Near this is Independence Rock, six hundred yards long, one fourth as wide and very high. This is a perfect sight on the level bottom of the Sweet Pass through perpendicular rocks four hundred feet high. We followed this stream up to the south pass of the Rocky Mountains, ascent and descent not very steep, level for a few miles on the top, from here the waters ran south until we crossed the Wasatch Mountains. 

Green River is the largest - about as large as the Wabash at Lafayette, is a branch of the Colorado and empties into the Gulf of California. A little farther on is Bear River and the Weber River. Both of these flow into Salt Lake. Here the country is very diversified, surrounded by high mountains on every side. The soil is of every quality, a great deal of good rich farming land. The valley is here about thirty miles wide. The water of the lake is very strong. There is no fish in it. 

Utah Lake, fifty miles from here, is fresh water and plenty of fish. There is but little game - a few mountain sheep, antelope and black tail deer. There are large grizzly and brown bear, all scarce. The mountain wolf is most savage when pressed with hunger. I have known them to have killed cows and oxen in sight of the city in daylight. The feathered tribes are few. All kinds of grain and vegetables grow well here. Most of the land has to be watered. One hand will water two or three acres in a day. Land is almost of every price - generally of five or ten dollars, sometimes more. A great deal of good land among these valleys is not claimed or settled. Mormon settlements extend north seventy miles, south a hundred and eighty. They are generally provided with forts in case of trouble with Indians who are very low and degraded. Range is good for stock. Many winter without being fed; are generally herded off from the farms both summer and winter.

It has been very mild here this winter. They have been plowing and sowing all this month. April is the general planting month. The principal timber is pine and fir and grows on the mountains. There is some oak, maple, birch, cottonwood and willow, mahogany, cedar and box elder. The buildings are for the [most] part made of dobies or unburnt brick. When made of blue clay makes a very good house. 

There are good mills and machinery here, plenty of merchandise, money very scarce at this time. Very many pass every year this way to Oregon and California. In traveling here we traveled through a part of Oregon and California.

As to political matters it is a well organized government. All religion is tolerated and all rights respected. There is no common stock here. Every man controls his own property. It is the healthiest country we ever lived in. The water is generally very good but there are warm springs here and some boiling hot. There is a canal laid out to connect Utah Lake and Salt Lake. We have snow in sight of us all the year around. We can see all over the valley and see the lake. The islands in the lake are high mountains. It is twenty miles to it. A common pailful of Salt Lake water will make five pounds of salt.

I am now in a hurry to get my letter in the office as the mail goes east but once a month. I leave it to your own judgment about the matter of attorney. Any money that is good in Saint Louis would be good here. I expect you will have to send it by letter. I have, by the advice of the governor, taken my mother’s name for a middle name on account of others here of the same name.
 Be sure to notice this in directing a letter or I may not get it. No more at present, but [I] remain your affectionate brother.

James S. Lewis
Give our respects to all.
Power of Attorney


A Court Record of 1855

In his letter to his brother, Joel Lewis, James encloses a power of attorney, under date of February 23, 1855. This document recorded in Book W, page 463, Randolph County, Indiana, Office of Recorder of Deeds, reads:

"Know all men by these present that one James Lewis and Anna Lewis, (Formerly Anna Jones) his wife, both of Salt Lake County in the territory of Utah have made constituted and appointed Joel Lewis of Winchester, Randolph County in the state of Indiana our true and lawful attorney for us and in our name and stead, to collect and receive all sums of money and all other property due and belonging to the aforesaid Anna Lewis formerly Anna Jones as aforesaid one of the heirs of the property and estate left by John Jones deceased late of Randolph County and State of Indiana give and granting unto said attorney full power and authority to do and perform all and every act and thing whatsoever requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises as fully to all intents and purposes we might or could do if personally present with full power of substitution and revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that our said attorney or his substitute shall lawfully do, or cause to be done by virtue thereof. In witness whereof we have here unto set our hand and seal this twenty third day of February in the year one thousand eight hundred and fifty five."

James Lewis (seal)

Anna X Lewis

[This document with its rather verbose legal phraseology was notarized by Robert Campbell of "Grate (thus) Salt Lake County, Territory of Utah" and was recorded by William Burres, recorder for Randolph County, Indiana. –Arthur K. Love, 1936.]

Further Movements and Activities of James Stapleton Lewis
For a rapid review of the further movements and activities of James Stapleton Lewis, during the next twenty years, the editor is indebted in the main for information supplied by Rachel Lewis Harper and Hyrum s. Lewis, only surviving children of James. Part of this information was submitted by Mrs. Harper from her father’s notes, and the rest is the personal experiences of the son and daughter. Direct statements are enclosed in quotation marks. 

1855 Dobie House

James “owned his first farm in sugar House (Ward) Salt Lake City . . . where he lived in a ‘dobie’ house; a very successful farmer.”

1863 Coalville

James moved to Coalville, Mount Summit County, Utah, from Salt Lake City, buying “a large farm here;” possessed “many cattle” was counted one of the wealthiest farmers in the place.” “Sold much grain and cattle . . . this was in 1863, time of the great Civil War.” Back in Indiana Joel’s son, Andrew K. Lewis, had enlisted as a stripling of 16 in the 69th Indiana Regiment Volunteers (he was the editor’s grandfather) been wounded in action, taken prisoner, exchanged, married, and soon was to leave a wife and daughter (the editor’s mother) for the front again in the 147th Indiana Volunteers, a veteran. Truly, youth’s thoughts are long, long thoughts. James shared with Joel the anxieties of these trying days.

1865 Second Marriage
Under the laws of the Mormon Church then existing James Stapleton Lewis married Mary Swenson, his second wife. She was born November 4, 1831 in Calmer, Sweden.

1866 Birth of Rachel Lewis (Harper)
On June 23 1866, a daughter was born from the second union, named Rachel Stapleton Lewis. In 1867 the Lewis family moved to Montpelier, Idaho.

1868 Birth of James’ son, Hyrum Smith Lewis
On May 18, 1868, Hyrum Smith Lewis, son of James and Mary Swenson Lewis, was born at Montpelier. He was named in honor of Hyrum Smith, brother to Joseph Smith, the founder of the Mormon church. Hyrum Smith was killed in the attack of the mob on the Carthage Illinois jail with his brother, June 27, 1844 (see March number of the News-Letter, 1936). “In Dingle Dale (James) had a hay ranch called Big Timber, near Montpelier; also owned a piece of land in Hooperville, Utah. He talked about going into the mercantile business, but did not do so.” “Moved from Montpelier to Brigham City, Utah, (Box Elder County) . . . where he lived seven years; owned there a home and two city lots.”

1868 Joel Jones Lewis Dies.

James and Anna's son Joel Jones, died at Brigham City, December 19, 1868, age 37.   He never married.

1871 Cyrus Sackett Lewis

 A second son was born to James and Mary Swenson Lewis September 10, 1871, at Brigham City, Utah, and named Cyrus Sackett in honor of the husband of Nancy Sackett of Bellbrook, Ohio   (See page 6, of this issue.) Cyrus died in his third year, April 17, 1874.  The roster of births therefore contains the names of eleven children, eight sons born to James and Anna, and one daughter and two sons born to James and Mary*.

1875 - A Momentous Year for the James Stapleton Lewis Family
The year 1875 was a momentous one in the annals of the James Stapleton Lewis family.  Death invaded the family circle twice, taking first a son, the victim of a frontier tragedy, and second a wife and mother beloved.  Also in this year, the final migration of James Stapleton Lewis , into the Marsh Basin country was effected, a dozen migrations from the time  he left his father’s home in Cass County, Indiana, to his last residence in Cassia County, Idaho.  Some of these migrations were under compulsion, most of them were voluntary, but all influenced by the Church whose teachings he had accepted and to whose laws and councils he was ever obedient.  The life of James Stapleton Lewis cannot be adequately evaluated apart from the great role the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints played in his affairs.
 Isaac Morley Lewis, son of James and Anna Jones Lewis, died March 24, 1875, in Box Elder County, Utah.  He was a violin maker, was married and left descendants.  Hyrum S. Lewis describing the tragic event of his brothers death writes the News-Letter:

“1873
 is perhaps the most memorable year in my life because of the experiences we encountered and while those experiences would seem like a midnight dream or the fancied hallucinations of a deranged mind, they are absolutely true.

In February, father decided to seek holding on the frontier, so with his son Alva and grandson Jimmie they traveled farther west, wending their way through snow, over mountains, much of the time without even a trail.  After several days, landing in Marsh Basin this they considered an Utopia, a heaven of bliss.  In a short time Father and Jimmie  returned leaving Alva to get logs and build a cabin when we could return. On March 24 a brother Isaac who was working in the mountains was killed in a snow slide.  Weeks went by and his body was not found.  Alva, still at Marsh Basin, with no means of communication, no letter or word, dreamed one night that Isaac had been killed in a snow slide.  In the dream he saw the location and also discovered the body.  So impressed was he that at daybreak he was on his way, with a horse to ride part of the time - - and almost without rest be traveled to Corrine, 120 miles distant, there to learn that his dream was true, and In the early morning a few days later he found the body which had been buried in snow for six weeks.

To this family sorrow a second was added within a fen months.  In Corrine, Box Elder County, Utah, on December 7, 1875, died Anna Jones Lewis, first wife of James Stapleton Lewis.  She who had been his faithful companion in the Church, who had shared valiantly with him the hardships incident to their many migrations, who had been subject with him to terrors by night and alarms by day, who had given him eight sons, three of whom survived her death, John Alma, Alva Tippits and Wilford Woodruff, was laid to rest, a pioneer mother and wife, in that distant pioneer land, to await that hour when "an angel shall come down from heaven, clothed with a cloud; and a rainbow on his head, and his face shall be as it were the sun, and his feet as pillars of fire; and he shall stand upon sea and earth and lift up his hand to heaven and declare that time shall be no more (Revelation 10:1-6),” “and the dead, small and great shall stand  before God;  and the Book of life shall be opened, and. the dead will be judged according to those things which are written therein (Revelation 20: 12).”  “And blessed  will they be who have washed their robes and made them white in the blood of the Lamb (Revelation 7:14).”  Anna's age was 65 years, 1 month, 2 days.  No doubt the accidental death of her son Isaac shortened her days.

Marsh Basin

After the death of Isaac In the snow slide and the finding of his body Hyrum S. Lewis relates:
"After a short time we were anxious to get to our haven of peace when another disappointment was ours.  Our horses had wondered away and search seemed in vain.  After a long time they were found and a long hard journey began.  For several days of this journey we were in sight of the snow slide that had taken Isaac's life - we could in imagination at least, see his widow and four children pondering over life’s sad trail.

On June 1st we arrived in Marsh Basin.  At that time it was most  inviting  -  green grass in abundance, streams of sparkling water and everlasting hills surrounding us with plenty of timber near by.  Here it was that man was to organize the laws and at the same time execute them under the direction that ‘Whatsoever ye would that man should do unto you, do ye even so unto them,’ neighbors - they were few and far between.  How did we live?  I don’t know - we planted a garden and in father's words, "Never has the labor of my hands been more remunerative in bringing abundance, than in this place."  Our health was good, appetites robust.  We built a log room about 16 by 16 feet and this was our home - earth floor, earth roof, a fire place.  Furniture there was none.  Mother had a shelf on the wall used for cupboard, china closet and  other purposes."

A Touching Request

"Early in  the fall, a committee of one came to this home informing us of the death of a little child.  There was not enough lumber in one place to build a little casket and we were asked what we could contribute. Without hesitation or reservation my mother took the contents off of her only shelf and placed them on the dirt floor, and the shelf went to serve as a lid for the little casket.  A grave was dug in the wilds and a pile about twenty feet high was raised a short distance from the grave so that it might be found.  A few of us gathered and the sorrow was intense.  I was there with bared head and feet, not altogether because it was sacred ground, but because I did not have those useful articles of apparel.  As we stood around this grave the only service was the reading of the prayer  of the Galilean by father.  This was the first death and burial in Marsh Basin."
 The persons in the company taking the journey to Marsh Basin were "father, mother, Rachel, (daughter) and Hyrum, (son):  the starting point Brigham City, the Snow Slide 10 miles north; the camping grounds and watering places; Bear River, Malad River, Point Lookout, Blind and Blue Springs, Dillies Ranch, Curlew, Deep Creek, Pilot Springs, - here Alva and his family left us and went to Nevada - next Devil's Dive,  Round Mountain, Kelso, Clear Greek,  Raft River, Cassia Creek - and then - Marsh Basin."

Rachel Lewis Harper adds to her brother Hyrum's account of the Marsh Basin experience:
"Father went to Albion, Idaho in 1875 and homesteaded 160 acres of land with water rights, a little later he filed on 40 acres more under the Timber Culture Act, a fine piece of land.  He planted many trees of different kinds."  "At that time Idaho was a desert.  The Valley had no name, but was called Cedar Valley or Marsh Basin, and is now known as Albion.”  "Although it was late in the season when we reached the valley, we ploughed and sowed and reaped.  There were five families in the valley, so we indeed were pioneers."  "We were ever mindful of  our Faith, our first meetings were held in a Bowery made of brush and willows.  My parents were very devout Christiana people. We prayed, sang hymns, bore testimonies of God’s goodness to us in preserving our lives from all evil.  We had good times in those days and we loved  one another."  Father and mother hauled logs from the mountains, built them a cabin, which, we moved into in October - a dirt roof, dirt floor, no windows, but it was a shelter.  The valley was full of wild cattle and Indians.”

Hyrum S. Lewis also relates that the family would often go out in the sage brush and remain through the night fearing a foray of the Indians under cover of darkness upon the cabin home.

Centennial Year

The year 1876 was the memorable anniversary of the 
nation’s centennial. Celebrations appropriate to the event were held throughout the country and the first American World's Fair, the Centennial Exposition, was held in Philadelphia, the city of the Independence proclamation and the Liberty Bell.   In far away Marsh Basin, an American Pioneer of Idaho, stirred by the celebration of the first hundred years of national life gave vent to his emotions, and James Stapleton Lewis wrote the following:

THE PIONEER’S DREAM  ON THE  DESERT

A ranch on the desert, a farm on the waste,
A home on the wilderness wild,

Is more than enough for a fanciful taste

For either man, woman or child.

A home for to build, the land for to break,
A field for to fence in the wild,

For all that is here there's enough to do
For every man, woman or child.

Labor is wealth, labor is power,

And Labor's allotted to man.

� 	The time-frame expressed here results in their parting approximately 1841 to 1843. This would have been when JSL and his family left Nauvoo, IL on their way to Mt. Pisgah, IA. –Lee Lewis, November 7, 2003.


� 	Anna Jones Lewis.


� 	Reverend John Jones was born in 1773 in Kentucky. By 1855, he would have been well past a normal life span.


� 	This comment indicates that Anna’s father, Rev. Jones, apparently married twice.


� 	This is new information! See Jay Flanders’ story of JSL’s trip from Iowa to Salt Lake City. If the family actually took a detour through parts of Oregon and California on their way from Iowa to Salt Lake City, it was a major detour of many hundreds of miles. They would have had to go through either Idaho or Nevada, or both to do that today. CHECK Oregon and California boundaries in 1850-1855.


� 	Here, in his own writing, JSL says that he wasn’t always JSL!


� 	This date is a typographical error. It should be 1875. –Lee Lewis, November 2003.


� 	Records of the Albion LDS Cemetery, the land for which was donated by James Stapleton Lewis indicate that this was the first burial there. –Lee Lewis, November 9, 2003.
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